IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

VICTOR GINSBERG and ELAINE SCARFO,

Appellants,

vs.

CASE NO.: SC00-2614 L.T. CASE NO.: 99-10983

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellee.

ON REVIEW OF CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

INITIAL BRIEF OF ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY

LORI J. CALDWELL Florida Bar No. 0268674

DAVID B. SHELTON

Florida Bar No. 0710539

RUMBERGER, KIRK & CALDWELL

A Professional Association Post Office Box 1873 Orlando, Florida 32802-1873 Telephone: (407) 839-4511 Telecopier: (407) 841-2133

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Course of Proceedings Below

Allstate Insurance Company and Allstate Indemnity Company brought a declaratory judgment action in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida against their insured, Victor Ginsberg, and against Elaine Scarfo. <u>Allstate Insurance Co. v. Ginsberg</u>, 235 F.3d 1331, 1333 (11th Cir. 2000). Ms. Scarfo had previously sued Mr. Ginsberg in federal court based upon his alleged unwelcome sexual touching and comments. <u>Id</u>.

Allstate Indemnity Company had issued a homeowners policy to Mr. Ginsberg. Allstate Insurance Company had issued a personal umbrella policy to Mr. Ginsberg. Id.

In the declaratory judgment action, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment on various coverage issues under Allstate Insurance Company's personal umbrella policy. All issues under Allstate Indemnity Company's homeowners policy were moot, as Appellants did not seek coverage under this policy. <u>Id</u>. at n. 2.

The District Court granted summary judgment in favor of Allstate Insurance Company, concluding that its personal umbrella policy did not provide coverage for Ms. Scarfo's claims against Mr. Ginsberg. The District Court's conclusion was that Ms. Scarfo's claims of sexual touching and comments did not constitute an "invasion of privacy" under Florida law so as to trigger coverage under the policy. Id. at 1334.

Mr. Ginsberg and Ms. Scarfo took an appeal from the summary judgment to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. Allstate Insurance Company took a cross-appeal. The Eleventh Circuit issued an opinion on December 20, 2000 in which it certified four questions to this Court:

(1) Do Pleadings Of Unwelcome Conduct Including Touching In A Sexual Manner And Sexually Offensive Comments State A Cause of Action For The Florida Common Law Tort Law Claim of Invasion Of Privacy?

(2) Do Allegations Of Intentional Unwelcome Conduct Including Touching In A Sexual Manner And Sexually Offensive Comments Constitute An "Occurrence" Under Florida Law For Purposes Of Insurance Coverage?

(3) Do Pleadings Of Unwelcome Conduct Including Touching In A Sexual Manner And Sexually Offensive Conduct Fall Within The Business Exception To Coverage When The Alleged Conduct Occurred In The Workplace In The Context Of An Employer-Employee Relationship But Did Not Pertain To The Purpose Of The Business?

(4) Are Allegations Of Intentional Invasions Of Privacy Excluded From Coverage By An Intentional Acts Exception When The Policy Expressly Provides Coverage For Invasions Of Privacy?

235 F.3d at 1337-8.

B. Statement of the Facts

Ms. Scarfo's Allegations Against Mr. Ginsberg

In her lawsuit against Mr. Ginsberg, Ms. Scarfo made various claims arising in the context of a workplace relationship with Mr. Ginsberg and his companies. She alleged that she was employed by Mr. Ginsberg and his companies from approximately November of 1991 until September 18, 1992. (R.39, Exhibit "C" thereto at page C2, paragraph 3). She alleged that from approximately November of 1987 until November 1991 she worked for her husband at Mr. Ginsberg's corporations. Id. Her husband worked for Mr. Ginsberg's corporations. Id. at pages C4-5, paragraph 14. Ms. Scarfo alleged that "from approximately 1988 and throughout her employment ... [she] was subjected to ongoing and pervasive, sexually offensive, unwelcome conduct by Defendant Ginsberg, who was Plaintiff's direct supervisor." Id. at pages C3-4, paragraph 8. She generally alleged that Mr. Ginsberg's actions "included the unwelcome touching of her body and being subjected to unwelcome sexually oriented comments and actions during and after working hours on an ongoing and repeated basis. "Id. She specifically alleged that Mr. Ginsberg touched her "in a sexually offensive and unwelcomed manner, including kissing her, rubbing her shoulders and back and touching her breasts, and forcing her to touch his penis." Id. at page C4, paragraph 9. She alleged that this conduct created an intimidating, hostile and

offensive work environment. Id. at page C4, paragraph 12.

Ms. Scarfo alleged that when she insisted the sexual harassment cease, Mr. Ginsberg retaliated against her by discharging her from her position. <u>Id</u>. at page C4, paragraph 13. Mr. Ginsberg allegedly further retaliated by terminating her husband's salary and dissolving the corporations which employed her husband. <u>Id</u>. at page C4, paragraph 14.

Ms. Scarfo alleged that Mr. Ginsberg's aforementioned actions constituted a violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (<u>Id</u>. at page C5, paragraph 16); a battery (<u>Id</u>. at page C5, paragraph 18); an intentional infliction of emotional distress (<u>Id</u>. at page C6, paragraph 21); and an invasion of privacy (<u>Id</u>. at page C7, paragraph 26).

The Policy Provisions

Allstate Insurance Company issued a Personal Umbrellas Policy to Mr. Ginsberg. The insuring obligation of the subject Personal Umbrella Policy provides as follows:

Coverage - When We Pay

Allstate will pay when an **insured** becomes legally obligated to pay for **personal injury** or **property damage** caused by an **occurrence**.

Personal Activities Coverage applies to an **occurrence** arising only out of:

- 1. personal activities of an **insured**. Activities related to any **business** or **business property** of an **insured** are not covered.
- 2. a civic service an **insured** performs. The service must be:
 - a) not for profit; or
 - b) not a function of an **insured's business**.
- 3. the occupancy of a land vehicle, aircraft or watercraft by an **insured** for personal transportation. Occupancy of any such conveyance while being used in any way directly related to an **insured's business** or **business property** is not covered.

(R.39, Exhibit "B" thereto at page B5). The Personal Umbrella Policy has the

following relevant definitions:

- 3. **"Business**" means any full or part-time activity of any kind engaged in for economic gain. It does not include:
 - a) farming; or
 - b) the rental or holding for rental of any premises in a one, two, three or four family residence owned or controlled by an **insured** as a dwelling, office, school or studio.
 - * * *
- "Occurrence" means an accident or a continuous exposure to conditions. An occurrence includes personal injury and property damage caused by an insured while trying to protect persons or property from injury or damage.
- 7. "**Personal Injury**" means:
 - a) bodily injury, sickness, disease or death of any person. Bodily injury includes disability, shock, mental anguish and mental injury;
 - b) false arrest; false imprisonment; wrongful entry; invasion of rights of occupancy; or malicious prosecution;
 - c) libel; slander; misrepresentation; humiliation; defamation of character; invasion of rights of privacy; and

d) discrimination and violation of civil rights, where recovery is permitted by law. Fines and penalties imposed by law are not included.

(R.39, Exhibit "B" thereto at page B3). The subject Personal Umbrella Policy contains the following relevant exclusions:

This Policy Will Not Apply:

1) to any act, or failure to act, of any person in performing functions of that person's **business.**

2) to any occurrence arising out of a business or business property.

(R.39, Exhibit "B" thereto at page B10).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal raises significant insurance coverage issues which need to be resolved by this Court. These issues arise under a personal liability policy, not a commercial policy. These issues arise, however, in the context of a workplace relationship. Regardless of how the claims against the insured are styled or titled, claims of sexual harassment arising from the workplace should not trigger coverage under a personal liability policy.

In this particular case, there is no coverage under Allstate's Personal Umbrella Policy for several reasons. First, Ms. Scarfo's claims that she was sexually harassed and battered by Mr. Ginsberg, although titled "invasion of privacy," do not fall within the tort as recognized by this Court. Instead, these claims are nothing more than a repetition of her claims of sexual harassment and battery. The tort of invasion of privacy has a unique and limited function in the law and should not be expanded beyond its common law roots to include sexual harassment and battery.

This Court described the "intrusion" form of invasion of privacy as "physically or electronically intruding into one's private quarters." That did not happen in this case.

Labeling a sexual battery an invasion of privacy is an example of the "creative" pleading which is often used in an attempt to trigger insurance coverage. Manipulation of coverage obligations in this manner should not be permitted, and this Court should help put an end to this practice by refusing to adopt the label sought by Ms. Scarfo.

Second, even if this sexual battery could be treated as an invasion of privacy, there would be no coverage because there is no occurrence under the policy. Allstate's policy only covers accidental losses. Thus, any cognizable invasion of privacy would need to be committed accidentally or negligently to create coverage. Here, the allegations are that Mr. Ginsberg intentionally harassed and battered Ms. Scarfo. Harassment and batteries are not accidents.

Finally, the policy only covers Mr. Ginsberg for his personal activities and does not cover claims related to or arising out of his business. Ms. Scarfo's claims relate to and arise out of the companies that Mr. Ginsberg operated. She was an employee of his companies, and this employment relationship provides the foundation for her claims of harassment in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. Consequently, the business provisions would also exclude coverage.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

RESPONSE TO CERTIFIED QUESTION NO. 1:

ALLEGATIONS OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT, SEXUAL TOUCHING AND SEXUAL COMMENTS DO NOT CONSTITUTE <u>AN INVASION OF PRIVACY.</u>

Florida's tort of invasion of privacy does not include the allegations in this case which specifically involve claims that Mr. Ginsberg touched Ms. Scarfo "in a sexually offensive and unwelcomed manner, including kissing her, rubbing her shoulders and back and touching her breasts, and forcing her to touch his penis." (R.39, Exhibit "C" thereto at page C4 par. 9). Although these allegations might demonstrate a trespass or battery of Ms. Scarfo, they do not amount to any invasion of privacy.

This Court first recognized the tort of invasion of privacy in <u>Cason v. Baskin</u>, 20 So. 2d 243 (Fla. 1944). That case involved defendant's publication of a book which included a biographical sketch and life history of plaintiff including an unflattering description of her work as a census taker. Plaintiff maintained that she was a private person and that the publication brought her unwanted publicity and notoriety. This Court concluded that the publication constituted an invasion of plaintiff's privacy.

In reaching its decision, this Court discussed the history of the right of privacy in the common law. In the earliest times, the law gave a remedy only for physical interference with a person's life and property and recognized battery in its various forms. 20 So. 2d at 247. From battery developed actions for assault, nuisance, slander and libel. Id. at 248. This Court recognized that people have "become more sensitive to publicity, so that solitude and privacy have become more essential to the individual." Id. This Court quoted early authors who "defined the right of privacy, in substance, 'to be the right to be let alone, the right to live in a community without being held up to the public gaze if you don't want to be held up to the public gaze." Id. This Court quoted from the Restatement of the Law of Torts: "Interferences with privacy: A person who unreasonably and seriously interferes with another's interest in not having his affairs known to others or his likeness exhibited to the public is liable to the other." <u>Id</u>. at 248-9.

Based on the various authorities, this Court recognized the right of privacy "distinct in and of itself and not merely incidental to some other recognized right, and for breach of which an action for damages will lie." 20 So. 2d at 250. This Court recognized that "mere spoken words cannot afford a basis for an action based on an invasion of the right of privacy." Id. at 252.

It is clear from this Court's opinion in <u>Cason</u> that the recognized tort is based on unwanted publicity. This point was underscored when the <u>Cason</u> case returned to this Court:

The design of the law must be to protect those persons with whose effairs the community has no legitimate concern, from being dragged into an undesirable and undesired publicity and to protect all persons whomsoever; their position or station, from having matters which they may properly prefer to keep private, made public against their will.

30 So. 2d 635, 638 (Fla. 1947).

Here, Ms. Scarfo did not allege that any of her private matters have been made public. She did not allege that Mr. Ginsberg made her affairs known to the public or forced her to be held up to the public gaze.

At most she alleged that she was battered. The right of privacy is supposed to be distinct from and not incidental to other rights. Thus, her battery claim cannot also masquerade as an invasion of privacy.

¹ Further, her allegations of unwelcome sexual comments are insufficient because

¹ Prosser and Keeton agree that this tort has a limited purpose in the law. In their treatise they discuss the history of the tort and conclude that it began as an effort to fill a gap in the law. Prosser and Keeton, <u>The Law of Torts</u> Section 117, pages 849-850 (5th Ed. 1984). They note that its origin was an attempt to create a remedy upon a distinct ground essential to the protection of private individuals against the unjustifiable infliction of mental pain and distress. <u>Id</u>. Because the tort was intended to fill a gap in the law, there is no need for it to be read broadly to include another tort such as battery which is well established in Florida jurisprudence. <u>See Stewart v. The Pantry, Inc.</u>, 715 F.Supp. 1361, 1368 (W.D. Ky. 1988)("Invasion of privacy protects one from intrusions into one's seclusion, not one's person. <u>Restatement</u>

mere spoken words cannot form the basis of an invasion of privacy.

2

The tort was most recently described by this Court to have four categories:

(1) appropriation - the unauthorized use of a person's name or likeness to obtain some benefit; (2) intrusion - physically or electronically intruding into one's private quarters; (3) public disclosure of private facts - the dissemination of truthful private information which a reasonable person would find objectionable; and (4) false light in the public eye - publication of facts which place a person in a false light even though the facts themselves may not be defamatory.

Agency For Health Care Administration v. Associated Industries of Florida, Inc., 678

So.2d 1239, 1252 (Fla. 1996), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 520 U. S. 1115 (1997) . Ms. Scarfo maintains that her allegations fall within category 2 as an intrusion; however, contrary to this Court's description in <u>Agency For Health Care Administration</u>, there was no physical or electronic intrusion into her private quarters. <u>See also Guin v. City of</u>

⁽Second) of Torts Section 652. Moreover, this type of allegedly offensive touching is in the nature of battery, not invasion of privacy.").

² <u>Steele v. Offshore Shipbuilding, Inc.</u>, 867 F.2d 1311, 1315 (11th Cir. 1989), previously relied upon by Appellants, is inconsistent with this Court's decision in <u>Cason</u> and should not be followed. In any event, it is inapplicable under the facts of this case. There, the court held that an invasion of privacy claim based on comments must demonstrate that the comments were published to the public in general or to a large number of persons. <u>Id</u>. at 1315. Here, there is no allegation that Mr. Ginsberg's comments were published to anyone other than Ms. Scarfo. In fact, her allegation is simply that <u>she</u> was subjected to his comments. Thus, her allegations are insufficient even if the mere spoken word could constitute an invasion of privacy despite <u>Cason</u>.

<u>Riviera Beach</u>, 388 So. 2d 604, 606 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980)("The tort of invasion of privacy is ordinarily considered to encompass four categories, one of which consists of 'intrusion upon the plaintiff's physical solitude or seclusion, as by invading his home....").

The description of "intrusion" as "physically or electronically intruding into one's private quarters" maintains the fundamental purpose of the tort: to protect private matters, i.e. what one does in her own home, from being made public. Ms. Scarfo's attempt to expand the tort to allegations that she was sexually touched and propositioned must fail since her allegations have nothing to do with publicizing private information or otherwise intruding into her privacy. See also Ponton v. Scarfone, 468 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 2d DCA)(court affirmed dismissal of invasion of privacy claim based on allegations that employer made utterances designed to induce female employee to join him in a sexual liaison), review denied, 478 So. 2d 54 (Fla. 1985). Ms. Scarfo seeks to expand the tort far beyond the original claims of Ms. Cason that she was a private person and that Ms. Baskin's book brought her unwanted publicity and notoriety.

Invasion of privacy has been further codified in the law since this Court's decision in <u>Cason</u>. <u>See, e.g.</u> <u>The Restatement (Second) of Torts</u> Section 652B. The comments to Section 652B do not evidence any intention to have the invasion of

seclusion aspect of the tort include a sexual battery. The comments provide:

a. The form of invasion of privacy covered by this Section does not depend on any publicity given to the person whose interest is invaded or to his affairs. It consists solely of an intentional interference with his interest in solitude or seclusion, either as to his person or as to his private affairs or concerns, of a kind that would be highly offensive to a reasonable man.

b. The invasion may be by physical intrusion into a place in which the plaintiff has secluded himself, as when the defendant forces his way into the plaintiff's room in a hotel or insists over the plaintiff's objection in entering his home. It may also be by the use of the defendant's senses, with or without mechanical aids, to oversee or overhear the plaintiff's private affairs, as by looking into his upstairs windows with binoculars or tapping his telephone wires. It may be by some other form of investigation or examination into his private concerns, as by opening his private and personal mail, searching his safe or his wallet, examining his private bank account, or compelling him by a forged court order to permit an inspection of his personal documents. The intrusion itself makes the defendant subject to liability, even though there is no publication or other use of any kind of the photograph or information outlined.

Comments a and b to The Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 652B. The

foundation of the tort, as described in these comments, is inconsistent with the tort

encompassing a battery.³

³ <u>State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Compupay, Inc.</u>, 654 So. 2d 944 (Fla. 3rd DCA), <u>review</u> denied, 662 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 1995), previously relied upon by Appellants, did not reach a different result. That case involved a business liability policy not a Personal Umbrella Policy. <u>Id.</u> at 945. Because of the specific policy language at issue there, the court was not asked to find, and did not find, that an invasion

Other courts have refused to characterize a sexual battery as an invasion of privacy. For example, in <u>Cornhill Insurance PLC v. Valsamis, Inc.</u>, 106 F.3d 80 (5th Cir. 1997), a female employee brought suit against her employer and others claiming that she was sexually harassed by her supervisor. The supervisor allegedly made sexual remarks to her, touched her in an inappropriate and offensive manner, exposed himself, made threatening and obscene gestures, and attempted to force himself on her. <u>Id</u>. at 83. Her complaint included claims for intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress, tortious assault and battery, intentional and negligent invasion of privacy, and negligent hiring and supervision. <u>Id</u>.

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