### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC00-2614

#### VICTOR GINSBERG and ELAINE SCARFO,

### Appellants/Respondents,

v.

#### ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellee/Movant.

On Review of Certified Questions From The United States Circuit Court Of Appeals For The Eleventh Circuit

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLANT/RESPONDENT VICTOR GINSBERG

Douglas H. Stein, Esq. Maurice J. Baumgarten, Esq. ANANIA, BANDKLAYDER, BLACKWELL, BAUMGARTEN & TORRICELLA 4300 NationsBank Tower 100 Southeast Second Street Miami, Florida 33131-2144

\_\_\_\_\_

Telephone: (305) 373-4900 Facsimile: (305) 373-6914

Counsel for Appellant/Respondent Victor Ginsberg

#

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

First, Allstate argues that *Purrelli* was incorrectly decided because there is such a thing as an actionable negligent invasion of privacy under Florida law. Allstate cites a sentence from the 44 year old case of *Jacova v. Southern Radio and Television Co.*, 83 So. 2d 34 (Fla. 1955) in support of that false proposition. In *Jacova*, the Court recognized that an actionable invasion of privacy can occur when a publisher publishes a photograph, and "should have known" that the publication would offend the sensibilities of a normal person. Allstate apparently believes that the Court's use of the phrase "should have known" somehow converts the invasion of privacy into a nonintentional act. That argument is fatally flawed. The act of publishing a photograph is an intentional one. Whether the publisher should have known that the subject of the photograph would be offended is merely a determination of whether the publisher foresaw the damaging consequences of the intentional act. Even if one who commits an intentional act does not intend to cause the resulting damage, the character of the act remains intentional. *Aetna Cas. and Surety Co., Inc. v. Miller*, 550 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989). The *Purrelli* court was correct in its assessment of Florida law that an invasion of privacy always is an intentional tort.

Additionally, if a tort of negligent invasion of privacy did exist under Florida law, it would be all the more reason for finding that Allstate has a duty to defend Ginsberg since, potentially, there could be a determination in the State Action, based on the same facts which are alleged in support of Scarfo's intentional invasion of privacy claim, that Ginsberg negligently, rather than intentionally, invaded Scarfo's privacy, which, according to Allstate, would be covered under the Policy. In other words, either (1) the tort of invasion of privacy only may be committed intentionally, in which case the "occurrence" requirement of the Policy does not preclude coverage because the Policy specifically includes coverage for an intentional invasion of privacy, or (2) invasion of privacy also may be committed unintentionally, in which case Allstate has a duty to defend the State Action because of the potential of a determination that Ginsberg negligently, rather than intentionally, invaded Scarfo's privacy. In either case, the definition of "occurrence" in the Policy does not relieve Allstate of its duty to defend.

Second, Allstate argues that *Purrelli* is not good law because it somehow conflicts with *Ladas v. Aetna Insurance Co.*, 416 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), *pet. for rev. denied*, 429 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 1983); *Federal Insurance Co. v. Applestein*, 377 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); *Employers Commercial Union Insurance Co. of* 

*America v. Kottmeier*, 323 So. 2d 605 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975); and *Aromin v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co.*, 908 F.2d 812 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990). As recognized in *Purrelli*, however, those cases did not involve an insurance policy such as Allstate's. In each of those cases, the policy contained an exclusion for intentional acts. However, unlike Allstate's policy, those policies did not contain a provision which explicitly provides coverage for the specified intentional tort of invasion of privacy. In the instant case, even assuming *arguendo* that the Policy limits coverage to "accidents," the Policy contains a contradictory provision which specifically provides coverage for intentional torts, such as invasion of privacy.

Allstate also relies on *State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Compupay, Inc.*, 654 So. 2d 944 (Fla. 3d DCA), *rev. denied*, 662 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 1995), where the court held that under the specific provisions of the insurance policy at issue in that case, there was no coverage for a claim of invasion of privacy as that claim was alleged in the pleadings. However, like the other cases cited by Allstate, *Compupay* is wholly distinguishable from the instant case. There, the insurance policy: (1)did not define an occurrence as "a continuous exposure to conditions;" (2) did not expressly provide coverage for "invasions to rights of privacy," and (3) did not specifically excise "invasions to rights of privacy" from the intentional act exclusion.<sup>2</sup>

Invasions of privacy fall squarely within the definition of "occurrence."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Indeed, since the definition of "occurrence" in the instant Policy encompasses much more than an "accident," the cases relied upon by Allstate from Arkansas, New Mexico, California, New York, Georgia and North Carolina regarding how those States define the word "accident" as used in an insurance policy(A.B. 19-20), are all irrelevant.

Allstate's request that this Court ignore the plain language of the Policy should be summarily rejected.

#### III. RESPONSE TO CERTIFIED QUESTION NUMBER 3: ALLEGATIONS OF UNWELCOME CONDUCT, INCLUDING TOUCHING IN A SEXUAL MANNER AND SEXUALLY OFFENSIVE CONDUCT, DO NOT FALL WITHIN THE BUSINESS EXCEPTION TO COVERAGE WHEN THE ALLEGED CONDUCT OCCURRED IN THE WORKPLACE IN THE CONTEXT OF AN EMPLOYER-EMPLOYEE RELATIONSHIP BUT DID NOT PERTAIN TO THE PURPOSE OF THE BUSINESS.

Allstate contends that because the Policy contains a provision which excludes coverage for occurrences arising out of Ginsberg's business activities ("business pursuits exclusion"), it has no duty to defend Ginsberg against Scarfo's claims. That contention ignores both the allegations of Scarfo's State Action Complaint, and all applicable law.

The coverage provisions of the Policy provide that,

Activities related to any **business** or **business property** of an **insured** are not covered.

(Doc 20 - Pg 53).

The Policy also contains an exclusion which provides:

This Policy Will Not Apply:

1) to any act, or failure to act, of any person in performing functions of that person's business.

2) to any **occurrence** arising out of a **business** or **business property.** 

(Doc 20 - Pg 56).

It is the allegations of Scarfo's State Action Complaint which determine Allstate's duty to defend Ginsberg, *Sunshine Birds and Supplies, Inc. v. United States Fidelity and Guar. Co.*, 696 So. 2d 907, 910 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997). A review of those allegations demonstrates that Allstate may not rely on the business pursuits exclusion as a basis for refusing to provide a defense to Ginsberg.

First, the type of conduct in which Ginsberg is alleged to have engaged is not business related. Simply stated, an employer who allegedly subjects an employee to unwelcome sexually oriented conduct such as kissing her, rubbing her shoulders and back, touching her breasts, and forcing her to touch his penis, is not engaged in any activity arising from, or related to, business.

This case is virtually identical to *Scheer v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co.*, 708 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 4th DCA), *rev. denied*, 719 So. 2d 893 (Fla. 1998). There, an action for sexual harassment, battery and invasion of privacy was initiated by employees against a doctor. The employees alleged that the doctor had touched their breasts and buttocks, and made sexually offensive remarks. The doctor's insurer filed a declaratory judgment action seeking a determination that the business pursuits exclusion of the policy excluded coverage for the alleged conduct. In reversing a summary judgment entered for the insurer, the Florida court held that the mere fact that the conduct occurred at the work place did not bring the conduct within the exclusion. The court further held that "the acts alleged against Dr. Scheer, which included touching co-employee's breasts and buttocks, did not arise out of his profession." *Id.* at 313.

That holding applies here. The same conduct which was held in *Scheer* to not fall within the business pursuits exclusion of the insurance policy, was alleged by Scarfo in the instant case. Allstate attempts to distinguish *Scheer* on the basis that the instant Policy does not cover activities "related to" Ginsberg's business. Allstate, of course, does not even attempt to explain how forcing a female to touch one's penis can "relate to" a business activity. In any event, the *Scheer* court specifically held that "Dr. Scheer's actions were **not related to** his profession." *Id.* at 313. Thus, *Scheer* applies to the instant Policy.

Allstate further tries to discredit *Scheer* by claiming that the case conflicts with two other decisions of the Florida courts. That argument is false. Neither of those cases concerns allegations of sexual misconduct. Rather, each concerns claims of assault and battery arising from arguments relating to the manner in which employment duties were performed.

First, in *Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. v. Miller*, 549 So. 2d 1200 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), during an argument as to how treat a mutual patient, one doctor jerked on the stethoscope of another doctor, causing injury. The court held that the business pursuits exclusion applied because the assault arose out of a professional dispute relating to patient care. In the instant case, Ginsberg's alleged misconduct, *i.e.*, touching Scarfo's buttocks and breasts and forcing her to touch his penis, simply does not relate to business.

The second case referenced by Allstate is *Santos v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co.*, 707 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). There, it was the plaintiff's duty as an employee of a University to take the minutes of department meetings. At a particular department meeting, the defendant attended as a department member, and, on behalf of the department, instructed the plaintiff to take the minutes of the meeting. When the meeting was adjourned, the plaintiff attempted to leave with her tape recorder, and the defendant jumped on her in an attempt to wrestle the tape recorder away. The court held that the defendant's participation at the meeting brought his conduct within the business pursuits exclusion. In the instant case, there is no allegation whatsoever, that Ginsberg or Scarfo were engaged in any employment duties at the time of the alleged conduct.<sup>3</sup>

Even if the acts of offensively touching another's breasts and buttocks, and forcing another to touch one's penis can somehow be considered to be related to, or arising from a business, the business pursuits exclusion still does not divest Allstate of its duty to defend Ginsberg. In the Complaint, Scarfo alleged that Ginsberg's alleged tortious conduct commenced in 1988 and continued through the termination of her employment in September 1992. However, as Scarfo alleged, she was not employed by Ginsberg until November 1991. From November 1987 to November 1991, she "worked for her husband without pay at defendant Ginsberg's corporations." At most, one could infer that, from 1987 through 1991, Scarfo assisted her husband at the location of Ginsberg's corporations. There is no allegation whatsoever that while she was working for her husband, Scarfo had any business

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Since the law in Florida is clear, there is no reason to rely on cases from Michigan, Georgia, New York and Ohio, as Allstate does (I.B. 32), to resolve this issue.

relationship with Ginsberg at all. Further, there is no allegation that any of the tortious conduct in which Ginsberg allegedly engaged from November 1987 to November 1991, took place at Ginsberg's place of business.<sup>4</sup> Indeed, when pleading her cause of action for "Invasion of Privacy," Scarfo specifically and expressly alleged that, aside from his capacity as "President and Director" of his corporations, Ginsberg had acted in his "individual" capacity.

Thus, even if some of Ginsberg's alleged tortious conduct as pleaded by Scarfo can be viewed as having been related to Ginsberg's business, at least some, if not most, of it clearly was not. The law in Florida is well-settled that where some of the allegations of a complaint fall within coverage, and some fall outside of coverage, the insurer must defend the entire lawsuit. *Grissom v. Commercial Union Ins. Co.*, 610 So. 2d 1299, 1307 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

Allstate argues that to allow insurance coverage for an invasion of privacy based on sexually offensive conduct would be contrary to the public policy of Florida. That argument finds no support in the law or logic. Allstate cannot deny that its Policy expressly provides coverage for "invasions of rights to privacy," and, undoubtedly, charges a premium for that coverage. Yet, now when called upon to perform under the policy, and provide a defense for a claim which falls specifically within the coverage of the Policy, Allstate claims that the coverage it provided is against the public policy of Florida. Allstate cites no authority whatsoever, and none exists, for its absurd

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Scarfo alleged that even during her employment with Ginsberg, an undefined amount of Ginsberg's alleged tortious conduct occurred "after working hours." (Doc 20 - Pg 66-67; Doc 38 - Pg 28).

proposition. Rather, Allstate cites to *Ranger Insurance Co. v. Bal Harbour Club*, *Inc.*, 549 So. 2d 1005, 1009 (Fla. 1989) where the Court held "that the public policy of Florida prohibits an insured from being indemnified for a loss resulting from an intentional act of **religious discrimination**" -- a claim which, of course is not at issue in this case.

The Court held further that it was "the unique nature of intentional discrimination" which gave rise to this public policy. *Id.* at 1008. The Court noted that Florida has "numerous" anti-discrimination statutes, and even the Florida Constitution prohibits discrimination based on religion. *Id.* at 1008-09.

Allstate has cited no case, statute or other law, which even suggests that Florida has a public policy against insuring claims of invasions of rights of privacy.

Additionally, aside from the fact that Allstate does not cite any case which holds that it is against public policy to **indemnify** an insured for losses resulting from sexual harassment claims, Allstate ignores the fact that the issue here is not whether Allstate is obligated to indemnify Ginsberg for any liability that may be imposed against him in the State Action. Rather, the issue is whether Allstate is obligated to **defend** Ginsberg against Scarfo's allegations of improper conduct. Obviously, there is no public policy that would prohibit Allstate from providing Ginsberg with a defense of the allegation that Scarfo has asserted against him in the State Action, and it would be absurd for Allstate to contend otherwise. Allstate's argument that it should be relieved of its duty to defend Ginsberg because to do so would violate some non-existent public policy, should be given short-shrift. IV. RESPONSE TO CERTIFIED QUESTION NUMBER 4: THE ISSUE OF WHETHER ALLEGATIONS OF INTENTIONAL INVASIONS OF PRIVACY ARE EXCLUDED FROM COVERAGE BY AN INTENTIONAL ACTS EXCEPTION WHEN THE POLICY EXPRESSLY PROVIDES COVERAGE FOR INVASIONS OF PRIVACY HAS BEEN WAIVED BY ALLSTATE.

Allstate has waived any claim that an "intentional acts exclusion" in its Policy divests it of its obligation to provide a defense to Ginsberg, and has not answered this Certified Question. Thus, there is no argument to which to respond and, accordingly, Ginsberg refrains from doing so.

#### <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, this Court should:

1) Decline to answer the first certified question because it is irrelevant to the issue of whether Allstate presently has a duty to defend Ginsberg;

2) Declare that Allstate presently has a duty to defend Ginsberg because there is legal and factual doubt surrounding Scarfo's claim for invasion of privacy;

3) Affirmatively answer the second certified question finding that the allegations do constitute an "occurrence" under Allstate's Policy;

4) Negatively answer the third certified question finding that the allegations do

not fall within the "business exclusions" provisions of Allstate's Policy; and

5) Decline to answer the fourth certified question because any argument in

regard thereto has been waived by Allstate.

Respectfully submitted,

#### ANANIA, BANDKLAYDER, BLACKWELL, BAUMGARTEN & TORRICELLA

Attorneys for Appellant/Respondent Victor Ginsberg 4300 NationsBank Tower 100 Southeast Second Street Miami, Florida 33131-2144 Telephone: (305) 373-4900 Facsimile: (305) 373-6914

By:\_\_\_

Douglas H. Stein Florida Bar No. 355283 Maurice J. Baumgarten Florida Bar No. 525324